### Case No. SC11-1148

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ESTATE OF MICHELLE EVETTE McCALL, by and through co-personal representatives EDWARD M. McCALL, II, MARGARITA F. McCALL, and JASON WALLEY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Defendant-Appellee.

On Discretionary Review from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit Case No. 09-16375J

### INITIAL BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

Henry T. Courtney Sara Courtney-Baigorri COURTNEY LAW FIRM The Merrick Plaza 2199 Ponce de Leon Blvd., Suite 301 Coral Gables, FL 33134 Telephone: (305) 358-1057

Stephen S. Poche
THE LAW OFFICE OF
STEPHEN S. POCHE, P.A.
1270 N. Eglin Parkway, Suite C-14

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In February 2006, Michelle McCall was a bright, beautiful, and healthy 20-year-old woman receiving pre-natal care and delivery services for her pregnancy at the Eglin Air Force Base clinic through the Air Force's family practice department. *Estate of McCall v. United States*, 663 F. Supp. 2d 1276, 1283 (N.D. Fla. 2009). Due to medical negligence, she tragically "bled to death in the presence of all medical staff who were attending her," later that month. *Id.* at 1291.

That tragic event was set in motion when, at a routine pre-natal checkup in mid-February 2006, Michelle's blood pressure was high. She was instructed to collect urine samples and return to the lab five days later. *Id.* at 1284. On February 21, 2006, tests revealed Michelle had severe preeclampsia, a serious condition characterized by elevated blood pressure and an abnormal amount of protein in the urine, requiring immediate hospitalization for the induction of labor. *Id.* 

The Air Force hospital was temporarily unavailable for obstetric and delivery services, so Michelle was admitted to the Fort Walton Beach Medical Center, where the Air Force maintained its own nursing station, delivery rooms, and on-call room for its medical personnel. *Id.* at 1285 n.4. Michelle was admitted at 5:00 p.m. on February 21, 2006 and given Pitocin to induce labor. After almost 24 hours of labor, the doctors decided to perform a C-Section, but discovered the only doctor capable of cesarean delivery was occupied with another surgery. *Id.* at

1284-85. While awaiting that doctor and choosing not to call an alternate obstetrician, Michelle's labor resumed, and she was allowed to continue with vaginal rather than caesarean delivery, even after the obstetrician arrived. *Id.* at 1285.

Michelle's son, W.W., was born at 1:25 a.m. on February 23, 2006, by natural birth. Thirty-five minutes later, when the placenta still had not delivered, two doctors tried unsuccessfully to remove the placenta manually. *Id.* Michelle's blood pressure dropped precipitously and continued to drop rapidly. Her dangerously low blood pressure went unnoticed for hours. Michelle lost copious amounts of blood, which also went unnoticed by the doctors and unreported by the nurses attending her. *Id.* at 1285-86.

The obstetrician returned to the medical center more than an hour after delivery of W.W., manually removed the placenta, and then undertook repairs of the serious lacerations in Michelle's vaginal wall. *Id.* at 1285. After he finished these procedures at 3:50 a.m., he ordered a blood count and, if needed, a transfusion to compensate for the blood Michelle had lost during the procedures. The blood count was not scheduled for another forty minutes, and no one attempted to perform the blood count for yet another forty minutes after that. No one monitored Michelle's condition between 4:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. When the

nurse finally went to draw Michelle's blood to perform the blood count after 5:00 a.m., Michelle was unresponsive. *Id.* at 1286.

Michelle was intubated and a transfusion of blood was begun at 5:30 a.m., but it was too late. *Id.* She never regained consciousness and was removed from life support a few days later, dying on February 27, 2006. The death certificate identified the events leading to death: severe preeclampsia, vaginal delivery, hypovolemic shock, and anoxic enoephalopathy. *Id.* 

Michelle McCall's estate, her parents, her son, and her son's father filed suit against the United States under the Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA), 28 U.S.C. §§1346(b), 2671-80, in November 2007, seeking damages for the medical negligence that resulted in her death.

After a bench trial, the federal district court held Defendant liable and determined that fair compensation would amount to nearly \$3 million, which included \$2 million in noneconomic damages. Of the noneconomic damages, \$500,000 was designated as compensation for W.W.'s loss of parental companionship, instruction, and guidance and for his mental pain and suffering. 663 F. Supp. 2d at 1294. An additional \$750,000 each was designated as compensation for each of Michelle's parents for their pain and suffering. *Id*.

The federal court then reduced Plaintiffs' noneconomic damages to \$1 million total pursuant to \$766.118, Florida Statutes. *Id.* at 1294-95, 1307-08. The

court rejected Plaintiffs' argument that both the practitioner and nonpractitioner caps should be applied to the case because the court said no "specific nonpractitioner" was "singled out" as negligent. *Id.* at 1294. The court also rejected Plaintiffs' constitutional arguments, after declaring that it "hesitate[d] to proceed" as this case presented "a novel question of state law that the Supreme Court of Florida has not yet addressed." *Id.* at 1296 n.34.

The court entered judgment limiting Plaintiffs to an aggregate award of \$1 million in noneconomic damages, along with nearly \$1 million in economic damages on September 30, 2009. The noneconomic damages were proportionally divided among the eligible survivors. *Id.* at 1307-08. On October 30, 2009, the district court denied Plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend the final judgment.

Plaintiffs appealed, challenging both the federal district court's ruling on the application and constitutionality of the cap. On April 6, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Certify Questions of State Law to this Court under the procedure established in Rule 9.150, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. After a hearing on both the Motion to Certify and the merits of the appeal, the Eleventh Circuit issued an opinion, finding the application argument had not been fully raised below and rejecting Plaintiffs' federal constitutional arguments. The Eleventh Circuit then certified the following questions of Florida constitutional law to this Court:

- (1) Does the statutory cap on noneconomic damages, §766.118, Florida Statutes violate the right to equal protection under Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution?
- (2) Does the statutory cap on noneconomic damages, §766.118, Florida Statutes violate the right of access to the courts under Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution?
- (3) Does the statutory cap on noneconomic damages, §766.118, Florida Statutes violate the right to trial by jury under Article I, Section 22 of the Florida Constitution?
- (4) Does the statutory cap on noneconomic damages, §766.118, Florida Statutes violate the separation of powers guaranteed by Article II, Section 3 and Article V, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution?

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's cap on noneconomic damages irrationally treats cases with multiple claimants differently and less favorably than those with a single claimant, thereby exacting an irrational cost when, as here, the victim of medical malpractice has a large family adversely affected by the injury. In *St. Mary's Hospital, Inc. v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 2000), this Court stated that such a cap bears no rational relationship to alleviating any financial crisis in the medical liability industry, "offends the fundamental notion of equal justice," and "can only be

described as purely arbitrary and unrelated to any state interest." *Id.* at 972. The equal protection violation is thus palpable.

Moreover, because the cap implicates a claimant's fundamental rights of access to the courts and trial by jury, the violation should be evaluated under strict scrutiny, a test it clearly fails. Section 766.118 treats medical malpractice plaintiffs with the most serious injuries, injuries that are sufficient to surmount the arbitrary and inflexible cap, less favorably than those whose injuries are less serious and who still qualify to receive the full value of their compensatory loss. A host of alternative means of addressing insurance costs and the availability of health care, including insurance regulation and tax incentives, were available to the Legislature without impinging on the rights of severely injured patients.

Even if the more deferential rational-basis standard were applied, there is no proper justification or fit to the Legislature's solution to its alleged health-care "crisis," as it was built on speculation when available facts rebutted its selected solution.

The cap also cannot be reconciled with the Florida Constitution's guarantees of access to the courts and the right to a jury trial. In *Smith v. Department of Insurance*, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987), this Court struck down a prior indistinguishable noneconomic cap on the basis of those two guarantees. This Court reasoned that a plaintiff who receives a verdict of one amount "has not

received a constitutional redress of injuries if the Legislature statutorily, and arbitrarily, caps the recovery." *Id.* at 1088-89. It further held that the same plaintiff has not received the "constitutional benefit of a jury trial as we have heretofore understood that right" when a "jury verdict is being arbitrarily capped." *Id.* 

The cap further violates separation of powers by taking the judiciary's inherent power of remittitur away and by requiring judges to issue a one-size-fits-all judgment that cannot be reconciled with the trial record. The Florida Constitution prohibits such legislative interference with judicial power in commonlaw civil actions.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CAP ON NONECONOMIC DAMAGES VIOLATES PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT TO EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The equal-protection guarantee, article I, section 2 of the Florida Constitution, assures that all similarly situated persons be treated alike. *De Ayala v. Florida Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co.*, 543 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1989). Thus, everyone "stand[s] before the law on equal terms with, to enjoy the same rights as belong to, and to bear the same burden as are imposed upon others in a like situation." *Warren v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 899 So. 2d 1090, 1105 (Fla. 2005)

(quotation and citation omitted). Section 766.118(2)<sup>1</sup> plainly violates this guarantee by imposing different and additional burdens on some injured parties when an act of medical negligence gives rise to multiple claims, as well when the negligent act causes particularly severe injuries. In both instances, medical-malpractice claimants do not enjoy the same rights to full compensation and do not bear the same burden by virtue of arbitrarily diminished compensation for their legally cognizable claims.

# A. Section 766.118 Violates Equal Protection Because It Arbitrarily Burdens Multiple Claimants in Medical Negligence Cases Differently

In *St. Mary's Hospital, Inc. v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 2000), this Court addressed a similar equal-protection problem to the one presented here. This Court declared that it would violate equal protection to cap noneconomic damages in the aggregate, regardless of the number of claimants, as §766.118 does here. *Id.* at 971-72. The Court stated that if noneconomic damages were limited in the aggregate,

then the death of a wife who leaves only a surviving spouse to claim the [full amount of the cap] is not equal to the death of a wife who leaves a surviving spouse and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Section 766.118(2) provides that noneconomic damages against a medical practitioner is limited to \$500,000 per claimant, but that no practitioner shall be liable for more than \$500,000, regardless of the number of claimants. Where the negligence results in a "permanent vegetative state or death," the cap is raised to \$1 million.

four minor children, resulting in five claimants to divide the [single capped amount]. We fail to see how this classification bears any rational relationship to the Legislature's stated goal of alleviating the financial crisis in the medical liability industry. Such a categorization offends the fundamental notion of equal justice under the law and can only be described as purely arbitrary and unrelated to any state interest.

### *Id.* (emphasis added).

The equal-protection violation identified by *Phillipe* is plainly present here.<sup>2</sup> Three separate noneconomic damage awards were made by the federal district court based on the evidence presented. To Michelle McCall's grieving parents, the court awarded \$750,000 apiece for their pain and suffering. To Michelle's surviving son, W.W., the court awarded \$500,000 for his pain and suffering. Under Florida law, the "proceeds from a wrongful death action . . . are the property of the survivors and are compensation for their loss." *In re Estate of Barton*, 631 So. 2d 315, 316 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Children, such as W.W., may recover for future loss of support and services, for lost parental companionship, instruction, and guidance, and for mental pain and suffering. \$768.21(1) & (3), Fla. Stat. Parents, such as Edward and Margarita McCall, each had separate claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Court also has pending a case presenting a similar issue under a different Florida damage cap. In *Samples v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological*, No. SC10-1295 (submitted May 5, 2011), the certified question is "Does the limitation in section 766.31(1)(b)1, Florida Statutes, of a single award of \$100,000 to both parents violate the Equal Protection Clause of the United States and Florida Constitutions?" *See* 40 So. 3d 18 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010).

for lost support and services and future lost support and services. §768.21(1), Fla. Stat.

The federal court assessed their damages as fair value based on the record evidence. Applying the cap, it then reduced its own determinations so each claimant receives exactly half of their respective awards. Yet, if Michelle were survived only by her son, he would recover the full amount of his noneconomic damages: \$500,000.

The federal court rejected the equal-protection argument advanced by the *Phillipe* Court, as a matter of federal law, by ruling that the cap statute "draws no distinctions based on the size of a family," but only "on the basis of each occurrence of medical malpractice." 663 F. Supp. 2d at 1303. The fatal error in that analysis is that it operates at odds with traditional equal-protection analysis.

The test of equal protection, even under its most deferential standard, is whether it classifies *people* differently based on "some difference which bears a reasonable and just relation to the act in respect to which the classification is proposed, and can never be made arbitrarily, and without any such basis." *Gammon v. Cobb*, 335 So. 2d 261, 264 (Fla. 1976).

This Court spoke to the classification complained of here in *Phillipe* and stated that treating multiple claimants increasingly less favorably than single claimants is "purely arbitrary and unrelated to any state interest." *Phillipe*, 769 So.

2d at 972. The cap limits W.W.'s recovery for the loss of a relationship with his mother, simply because his grandparents also suffered a tremendous cognizable loss. Here, due to the number of survivors Michelle left behind, each of them is treated differently than plaintiffs in other cases where there are fewer survivors or the survivors were not as severely damaged as the plaintiffs in this case.

The statute ensures that even more arbitrary results will ensue in other cases. For example, if W.W. had a twin sister, or older siblings, his recovery and theirs would be yet more limited under an aggregate cap on noneconomic damages, even though their losses would not be ameliorated by the existence of other suffering claimants.

Under this statute, the greater the number of survivors and the more devastating their losses are, the less likely they are to be fully compensated for their losses. Scaling damages that way can only be considered capricious and makes little sense. Under Florida's equal protection clause and *Phillipe*, it is arbitrary and irrational, and it "offends the fundamental notion of equal justice under the law." *Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d at 972. As applied to this multiple-claimant case, the cap violates equal protection.

### B. Section 766.118 Fails Strict Scrutiny

Equal protection requires strict-scrutiny analysis when a law impedes or burdens the exercise of a fundamental right. *See State v. J.P.*, 907 So. 2d 1101,

1109 (Fla. 2004); *Mitchell v. Moore*, 786 So. 2d 521, 527 (Fla. 2001). Strict scrutiny focuses on whether the law is supported by a "compelling governmental interest" *and* is "strictly tailored to remedy the problem in the most effective way" without "restrict[ing] a person's rights any more than absolutely necessary." *Moore*, 786 So. 2d at 527-28. The test this Court uses "corresponds" to the "overpowering public necessity" and "no alternative means" test employed in determining whether a violation occurs of the constitutional "access to courts" right as announced in *Kluger v. White*, 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). *Id.* at 528.<sup>3</sup>

The Eleventh Circuit held that the cap did not violate Fourteenth Amendment equal protection, relying on a rational-basis analysis. That approach provides no guidance for this Court's strict-scrutiny task because the cap implicates fundamental rights under the Florida Constitution's access to courts and jury-trial provisions. *See Haag v. State*, 591 So. 2d 614, 618 (Fla. 1992) (access to courts is fundamental); *Fox v. City of Pompano Beach*, 984 So. 2d 664, 668 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (jury trial fundamental). To warrant strict scrutiny, an outright violation of the fundamental right is not necessary; the right merely must be burdened or implicated. *See, e.g., State v. J.P.*, 907 So. 2d at 1109-16 (strict scrutiny applies when a law "impedes the exercise of," "implicates," "impinges," or "burdens" a "fundamental right"); *B.S. v. State*, 862 So. 2d 15, 18 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) ("affects").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See infra pp. 32-36 for discussion of *Kluger* test.

Statutes that interfere with fundamental rights do not come to court clothed with a presumption of constitutionality, but are "presumptively unconstitutional unless proved valid." *N. Fla. Women's Health & Counseling Servs., Inc. v. State*, 866 So. 2d 612, 626 (Fla. 2003). That shifted burden requires those who would sustain the law to bear the "heavy burden" of showing the challenged statute accomplishes its goal through the least intrusive means. *Id.* at 646.

Here, the United States did not and cannot meet their burden, a burden that the federal courts did not consider in this case. Limiting all of Michelle McCall's survivors to a single aggregate amount of \$1 million in noneconomic damages lacks compelling justification and is not narrowly tailored or the least restrictive means of addressing the purported problem. It fails strict scrutiny analysis, and this Court should likewise hold that it violates equal protection.

## 1. There is no compelling governmental interest.

The Legislature attempted to satisfy the requirement of overpowering public necessity with empty claims that "Florida is in the midst of a medical malpractice insurance crisis of unprecedented magnitude," resulting in doctors leaving the state or refusing to perform high-risk procedures and allegedly limiting the availability of health care. Fla. Sess. Law Serv. Ch. 2003-416, §1 (C.S.S.B. 2-D). These conclusory "findings" are unbolstered by facts and, even if accurate, are ultimately unavailing. Authoritative government reports belie the pretextual justifications that the Legislature imagined. *See* U.S. General Accounting Office, No. GAO-04-124,

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