No. SC11-1148

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ESTATE OF MICHELLE EVETTE MCCALL, by and through co-personal representatives EDWARD M. MCCALL, II, MARGARITA F. MCCALL, and JASON WALLEY, Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Defendant-Appellee.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT, NO. 09-16375-J

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

TONY WEST Assistant Attorney General

PAMELA C. MARSH United States Attorney

THOMAS M. BONDY (202) 514-4825 DANIEL J. LENERZ (202) 514-0718 <u>Attorneys, Appellate Staff</u> <u>Civil Division, Room 7234</u> <u>U.S. Department of Justice</u> <u>950 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.</u> <u>Washington, DC 20530-0001</u>

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After a bench trial on the merits in this Federal Tort Claims Act case, plaintiffs prevailed and were awarded \$1.98 million in damages. The United States did not contest that judgment on appeal, and has already paid plaintiffs the \$1.98 million they were awarded. Instead, it is plaintiffs who appealed the district court's award, seeking an additional \$1 million in damages, arguing that Florida's limitation on noneconomic damages in medical negligence actions is unconstitutional under numerous provisions of the United States and Florida Constitutions. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit rejected plaintiffs' arguments under the United States Constitution and one of their arguments under the Florida Constitution, and certified four questions to this Court regarding the constitutionality, under the Florida Constitution, of Florida's statutory limitation on noneconomic damages in medical negligence actions.

The United States thus appears in this Court to defend the constitutionality, under the Florida Constitution, of Florida law. The United States is in this position because the Federal Tort Claims Act requires that, in tort actions against the United States, the elements of a cause of action and the measure of damages, including damages caps, be taken from the law of the state where the tort occurred.

Applying this Court's interpretation of its own State constitution, there is no basis to conclude that the statutory damages cap at issue here exceeds constitutional limitations. This Court has expressly held that even lower damages caps do not violate the Florida Constitution's access to courts provision, its guarantee of the right to trial by jury, its equal protection provision, or its separation of powers principle. *See University of Miami v. Echarte*, 618 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 1993) (access to courts, jury trial and equal protection); *Smith v. Department of Ins.*, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987) (separation of powers); *Cauley v. City of Jacksonville*, 403 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 1981) (jury trial). Plaintiffs seize on statements from this Court's prior opinions addressing damages caps, but it is this Court's prior holdings, not its dicta, that control.

Fundamentally, as we explain in more detail below, plaintiffs' arguments reflect their disagreement with the empirical and legislative judgments made by the Florida Legislature in enacting the damages caps at issue. But plaintiffs have presented no evidence that could plausibly call into question those judgments, relying instead on law review articles and other assorted studies. This Court defers to the legislature's factual findings and policy judgments unless they are "clearly erroneous, arbitrary or wholly unwarranted." *Moore v. Thompson*, 126 So. 2d 543, 549 (Fla. 1960); *see also Echarte*, 618 So. 2d at 196. In this case, the legislature's judgments were supported by the Task Force Report, sworn testimony, and affidavits from thousands of Floridians, and thus cannot be considered clearly erroneous. The constitutionality of the damages cap at issue should therefore be upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. Florida's Damages Cap Does Not Violate Plaintiffs' Right to Equal Protection Under the Florida Constitution

A. <u>The Cap Survives Rational Basis Review</u>

1. The Florida Constitution guarantees the equal protection of the laws. See Art. I, § 2, Fla. Const. When a statute, such as the damages cap at issue here, does not impair a fundamental right or affect a suspect class of persons, it is reviewed under the rational basis test, and must be upheld if the classification bears a rational relationship to a legitimate governmental objective. See, e.g., Warren v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 899 So. 2d 1090, 1095 (Fla. 2005). The relevant inquiry under this test is "(1) whether the challenged statute serves a legitimate governmental purpose, and (2) whether it was reasonable for the Legislature to believe that the challenged classification would promote that purpose." Id. "The burden is upon the party challenging the statute or regulation to show that there is *no* conceivable factual predicate which would rationally support the classification under attack. Where the challenging party fails to meet this difficult burden, the statute or regulation must be sustained." Florida High Sch. Activities Ass'n v. Thomas, 434 So. 2d 306, 308 (Fla. 1983).

As both the United States District Court and the United States Court of Appeals have recognized in this case, Florida's cap on noneconomic damages in

`16**`**

medical negligence cases easily passes the rational basis test. *See* ERE 68:29-35; *Estate of McCall*, 642 F.3d at 951. The Florida Legislature's various purposes for enacting the cap—including "making quality health care available to the citizens of this state," "ensuring that physicians continue to practice in Florida," and "ensuring that those physicians have the opportunity to purchase affordable professional liability insurance," Ch. 416, § 1(14), Laws of Fla. (2003)—are undeniably legitimate.

And it was entirely reasonable for the legislature to believe that limiting noneconomic damages in medical negligence cases on a per-incident basis would promote its legitimate purposes. The Task Force Report upon which the legislature relied expressly concluded, based on Florida's history of failed reforms, that "[a] cap on non-economic damages must be part of a package of reforms," and that a per-incident cap in particular "is the only available remedy that can produce a necessary level of predictability." Task Force Report at 219. Published studies addressing the issue also supported the Florida Legislature's approach. *See id.* at 192-200 (listing and discussing articles). As this Court recognized in addressing an equal protection challenge to a statute precluding recovery of nonpecuniary damages by a decedent's adult children in medical negligence cases, "[c]learly, limiting claims that may be advanced by some claimants would proportionally

limit claims made overall and would directly affect the cost of providing health care by making it less expensive and more accessible." *Mizrahi v. North Miami Med. Ctr., Ltd.*, 761 So. 2d 1040, 1042 (Fla. 2000). Similarly in this case, "[t]he Florida legislature could reasonably have concluded that such a cap would reduce damage awards and in turn make medical malpractice insurance more affordable and healthcare more available." *Estate of McCall*, 642 F.3d at 951.

2. Plaintiffs maintain that the damages cap at issue cannot pass the rational basis test. *See* Initial Brief for Plaintiffs-Appellants ("Pl.'s Br.") at 18-29. This argument applies the wrong legal standard and is also incorrect on its own terms.

Plaintiffs assert that the Eleventh Circuit's rational basis analysis "was severely flawed" because it "imposed an impossible and unreasonable burden on the Plaintiffs of disproving 'every conceivable basis which might support' the statute." *Id.* at 19 (quoting *Estate of McCall*, 642 F.3d at 950). Plaintiffs argue that, rather than being held to this standard, they should be able to "disprove the 'rational basis' for a law by demonstrating that it is arbitrary and oppressive." *Id.*

When evaluating statutes under the Florida Constitution's equal protection clause, however, this Court has employed the precise "every conceivable basis" test invoked by the Eleventh Circuit. *See, e.g., Thomas*, 434 So. 2d at 308 ("The burden is upon the party challenging the statute or regulation to show that there is *no*

conceivable factual predicate which would rationally support the classification under attack."); Lewis v. Mathis, 345 So. 2d 1066, 1069 (Fla. 1977) ("Those who complain of unjust discrimination by the State in violation of the State and Federal constitutions have the burden of showing that the alleged discrimination has no conceivable basis, in differences of conditions, sufficient to justify the statutory regulation under attack."). The Florida Court of Appeal uses the same test. See, e.g., Samples v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n, 40 So. 3d 18, 23 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010) ("The statute must be upheld if there is any conceivable state of facts or plausible reason to justify it, regardless of whether the Legislature actually relied on such facts or reason."); Amerisure Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 865 So. 2d 590, 592 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) ("The party challenging the statute has the burden to establish that there is no conceivable factual predicate that would rationally support the classification."). There is thus no basis for plaintiffs' suggestion that they should be held to a less demanding standard under Florida law than under federal law.

Plaintiffs' arguments that the Florida Legislature had no factual basis to assume that capping noneconomic damages would reduce malpractice insurance premiums, Pl.'s Br. at 21, and no reason to believe that insurers would pass any savings on to doctors, *id.* at 24, are likewise severely flawed. The Florida

Legislature reasonably believed that insurers would pass savings on to doctors in the form of lower malpractice insurance premiums because, as previously noted, the 2003 law itself dictated that result. See Ch. 416, § 40, Laws of Fla. (2003); §§ 627.062(8)(a), (b), Fla. Stat. (Sept. 15, 2003) (requiring companies issuing medical malpractice insurance policies adjust their rates to reflect the savings provided by the damages cap, as calculated by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation). And while plaintiffs criticize the task force's reliance on California's experience with a cap on noneconomic damages, Pl.'s Br. at 21-22, the task force did so based on evidence that California's "cap on non-economic damages has lowered medical malpractice premiums, which, in turn, has lowered healthcare costs and increased access to healthcare for all Californians." Task Force Report at 194 (citing study). Other studies and testimony before the task force also supported its conclusion that a cap on noneconomic damages would reduce medical malpractice insurance premiums. See id. at 198-201. Plaintiffs' disagreement with the task force's and the Legislature's empirical and predictive judgment on this issue falls far short of meeting their burden "to show that there is *no* conceivable factual predicate which would rationally support the classification under attack." Thomas, 434 So. 2d at 308.

B. <u>Plaintiffs' Other Equal Protection Arguments Are Meritless</u>

Plaintiffs further contend that the damages cap at issue violates the Florida Constitution's equal protection guarantee because it treats an act of medical negligence that gives rise to multiple claims differently from an act of medical negligence that gives rise to only a single claim, Pl.'s Br. at 8; because it discriminates against "the relatively few most seriously harmed victims of medical malpractice," *id.* at 28; and that it should be analyzed under strict scrutiny because it "implicates fundamental rights under the Florida Constitution's access to courts and jury-trial provisions," *id.* at 12. These arguments are contrary to controlling Florida Supreme Court precedent and are also meritless.

1. Relying on *St. Mary's Hospital v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 2000), Plaintiffs argue that the damages cap violates the state equal protection guarantee because it treats an act of medical negligence that gives rise to multiple claims differently than an act of medical negligence that gives rise to only a single claim. *See* Pl.'s Br. at 8. In *St. Mary's Hospital*, this Court addressed the question whether a \$250,000 statutory cap on noneconomic damages in medical negligence cases submitted to arbitration applied on a per-claimant or a per-incident basis. The Court explained that the statute was ambiguous, and held that it applied on a per-claimant basis because that interpretation best promoted the legislative intent underlying the particular provision at issue. St. Mary's Hospital, 769 So. 2d at 970.

The Court also stated that the alternative interpretation "would create equal protection concerns." *Id.* at 971. The Court noted that, were the statute to apply on a per-incident basis, it would treat the death of a wife who leaves only a surviving spouse differently from the death of a wife who leaves a spouse and four minor children, by causing the larger family to divide a same-size award. *Id.* at 972. The Court "fail[ed] to see how this classification bears any rational relationship to the Legislature's stated goal of alleviating the financial crisis in the medical liability industry" by encouraging voluntary arbitration of medical negligence claims. *Id.*

Plaintiffs' reliance on *St. Mary's Hospital* is misplaced. As the U.S. District Court correctly recognized, ERE 68:34 n.43, *St. Mary's Hospital*'s equal protection discussion was dicta—the Court's interpretation of the statute was driven not by equal protection concerns but was instead a reflection of the legislature's intent. *See St. Mary's Hospital*, 769 So. 2d at 968 ("Where there is ambiguity and uncertainty in the words employed in a statute, we must look to the legislative intent for guidance."). In contrast, this Court in *Mizrahi* expressly addressed an equal protection challenge to a statute that limited damages in medical negligence cases and held that the statute was "rationally related to controlling healthcare costs and accessibility." *Mizrahi*, 761 So. 2d at 1043. Like the statute at issue in *Mizrahi*, the damages cap at issue here serves to "limit claims made overall and . . . directly affect the cost of providing health care by making it less expensive and more accessible." *Id.* It is therefore rationally related to the legislature's legitimate purpose in controlling healthcare costs and accessibility. *Accord Estate of McCall*, 642 F.3d at 951.

Were this Court to deem its St. Mary's Hospital dicta controlling here, its decision would not only conflict with *Mizrahi*, but it would also conflict with the Eleventh Circuit's decision in this case, and suggest-for the first time-that the Florida Constitution's equal protection guarantee is to be interpreted differently than that found in the United States Constitution. The Eleventh Circuit considered, and expressly rejected, plaintiffs' argument that the legislature's use of a "per incident" cap was not rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose. See Estate of McCall, 642 F.3d at 951. The Eleventh Circuit explained that "[t]he legislature identified a legitimate governmental purpose in passing the statutory cap, namely to reduce the cost of medical malpractice premiums and health care." Id. As the Eleventh Circuit concluded, the means chosen to further that purpose, "a per incident cap on noneconomic damages, bears a rational relationship to that end. The Florida legislature could reasonably have concluded that such a cap would reduce damage awards and in turn make medical malpractice insurance more

affordable and healthcare more available." Id.

This Court has explicitly found "that the framers of this constitutional provision [the Florida Constitution's equal protection guarantee] did not intend that article I, section 2, have a broader application than the related provision of the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution." Schreiner v. McKenzie Tank Lines, 432 So. 2d 567, 568 (Fla. 1983). This Court thus explained that, "although the United States Supreme Court's construction of the fourteenth amendment is not controlling, it does give us persuasive advice as to how to construe article I, section 2 of the Florida Constitution." Id. at 569; see also Osterndorf v. Turner, 426 So. 2d 539, 543 (Fla. 1982) (stating that cases interpreting the federal constitution are "relevant and persuasive to the consideration of whether Florida's equal protection clause has been violated"). Following this Court's guidance, other courts have also interpreted the two provisions consistently. See, e.g., Florida League of Cities, Inc. v. Department of Envtl. Regulation, 603 So. 2d 1363, 1368 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) ("In that the federal definition of the rational basis test is applicable to Florida's equal protection clause, Osterndorf v. Turner, 426 So. 2d 539, 543 (Fla. 1982), we turn to the federal sector and examine particular cases in order to determine how the test has there been applied."); M.D. v. United States, 745 F. Supp. 2d 1274, 1279 (M.D. Fla. 2010)

("Florida courts have traditionally interpreted the state provision consistently with judicial interpretations of the Fourteenth Amendment.").

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